INTER-AMERICAN COURT OF HUMAN RIGHTS

CASTILLO PETRUZZI ET AL. CASE
PRELIMINARY OBJECTIONS
JUDGMENT OF SEPTEMBER 4, 1998
In the Castillo-Petruzzi ef a/ Case,

The Inter-American Court of Human Rights (hereinafter "the Court,"
"the Inter-American Court,”" or "the Tribunal") composed of the follow-
ing judges!:

Herndn Salgado-Pesantes, President

Antdnio A. Cancado Trindade, Vice-President
Maximo Pacheco-Goémez, Judge

Oliver Jackman, Judge

Sergio Garcia-Ramirez, Judge

Carlos Vicente de Roux-Rengifo, Judge
Fernando Vidal-Ramirez, Judge ad boc;

also present:

Manuel E. Ventura-Robles, Secretaty, and
Victor M. Rodriguez-Rescia, Interim Deputy Secretary

pursuant to Article 36(6) of the Rules of Procedure of the Inter-
Ametican Court of Human Rights (hereinafter "the Rules of Procedure™),
renders the following judgment on the preliminary objections interposed
by the State of Peru (hereinafter "the State" or "Peru™).

1 Judge Aliric Abreu-Burelli informed the Court that for reasons of jorce
mapewre he could not be present at the final deliberation and signing of this judg-
ment.
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I
INTRODUCTION OF THE CASE

1. This case was submitted to the Inter-American Court of Human
Rights by the Inter-American Commission on Human Rights (hereinafter
"the Commission"” or "the Inter-American Commission"} on July 22,
1997. It originated with petition No. 11.319 lodged with the Secretariat
of the Commission on January 28, 1994,

II
FACTS AS SET FORTH IN THE APPLICATION

2. According to the application, Peru violated the right to nationality
of Jaime Francisco Castillo-Petruzzi, Maria Concepcion Pincheira-Saez,
Lautaro Enrique Mellado-Saavedra and Alejandro Astorga-Valdéz by try-
ing and convicting them of the crime of "treason against the fatherland,"
pursuant to Decree-law 25,659, although they are not Peruvians. The
Commission also asserted that these persons were not tried by a compe-
tent, independent, and impartial judge or court in violation of their right
to a fair trial, because they were all tried, convicted, and sentenced to life
imprisonment in Peru by a "faceless" tribunal under military jurisdiction.
The Commission supports that statement, ifer alia, with the following
facts:

a.  On October 15, 1993, the alleged victims were detained by
members of the National Anti-Terrorism Bureau.

b.  On November 20, 1993, the investigative judge decided to
open an investigation against the alleged victims.

c¢.  On January 7, 1994, the Special Military Investigative Judge
of the Peruvian Air Force rejected "the jurisdictional objection
made by the accused Jaime Francisco Castillo-Petruzzi, Maria
Concepcidn Pincheira-Sdez, and Lautaro Mellado-Saavedra, and
upheld the jurisdictional objection made by the accused Alejandro
Astorga-Valdéz." The first three accused were convicted as "perpe-
trators of the crime of treason against the fatherland, with a sen-
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tence of life imprisonment without parele, continuous solitary con-
finement for the first year of the sentence and then forced labor.”
In the case of Astorga-Valdéz, the court ruled that "this Court does
not have jurisdiction to rule on his criminal conduct.”

d. On March 14, 1994, the military court of the second instance
upheld the Judgment of January 7, 1994, rendered by the Special
Military Court of the Peruvian Air Force.

c.  On May 3, 1994, the Special Military Supreme Court rejected
the maotion to annul the Resolution of March 14, 1994, and upheld
the January 7, 1994 Judgment, rejecting as withour ment the juris-
dictional objection made by Mr. Castillo-Petruzzi, Ms. Pincheira-
Saez, and Mr. Mellado-Saavedra, The Court also held that "the part
of the judgment that upheld the junsdictional objection made by
Alcjandro Luis Astorga-Valdéz was annulled" and refused to hear
the case on finding him responsible for

the crime of terrorism |...J for which reason it denied the
present motion and modified the judgment of the first
instance, rejecting the jurisdictional objection made by
Algjandro Tuis Astorga-Valdéz and condemning him to life
imprisonment as the perpetrator of the crime of treason

agrainst the fatherland.

111
PROCEEDINGS BEFORE THE COMMISSION

3. On January 28, 1994, Verdnica Reyna, Chief of the Legal
Department of the Chilean organization Fundacion de Ayuda Social de
las Iglesias Cristianas (hereinafter "FASIC"} submitted the first complaint
in this case. On June 29, 1994, the Commission transmitted the pertinent
parts of the complaint to the State and requested that it provide informa-
tion within two months about the events reported in the complaint. The
Commission also requested information concerning the exhaustion of
domestic remedzes.
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4, On August 26, 1994, a second group of complainants provided
new information on the case, and on November 18, 1994, they added the
case of Alejandro Astorga-Valdéz. In their first communication they
reported that on January 6, 1994, the defense attorneys of the alleged vic-
tims were notified that they had two hours to consult the case file and
prepare the defense, and that the judgment would be read the following
day. On September 29, 1994, this group of petitioners reiterated their
complaint. On November 22, 1994, the Secretariat of the Commission
informed that group by telephone that it needed to have a power-of-
attorney or an authorization from the initial petitioners in order to be
included as co-petitioners in the case.

5. On September 14, 1994, the State provided information, accompa-
nied by a copy of Otfficial Document No. 534-S-CS]M from the Superior
Council of Military Justice dated September 1, 1994, In that report it was
stated that:

Case No 078-TP-93-1. [against Castillo-Pettuzzi, Pincheira-Sdez,
and Mellado-Saavedra] for the crime of Treason Against the
Fatherland was tried before the Military Court of the Air Foree of
Petu, which convicted them of the commission of the illegal crimi-
nal act charged and sentenced them to life in prison.

Morteover, the State added that the Peruvian Courts "exercise jurisdiction
over ctimes committed within Peruvian national territory as an expres-
ston of sovereignty,” and that the ctiminal law of Peru is binding indepen-
dent of the petpetrator’s nationality and domicile. The State also speci-
fied that the type of crime denominated as treason against the fatherland
in Law 25,659 identifies an aggravated act of terrorism, which "in view of
its nature and the way it is carried our, requires coutts that have the nec-
essary assurances of security.” Finally, the State maintained that in all
proceedings that come before the military courts, the courts observe "the
rules of due process, the right to appeal to a higher court (three appeals),
judicial oversight, rationale for the decisions, inapplicability by analogy of
criminal law, and inform the defendant of the charges against him" and
provide the defendant with legal assistance. On September 23, 1994, the
Commission transmitted a copy of Peru’s response to the petitioners.
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6. On November 8, 1994, the original petitioners submitted their
obscrvations to the State’s answer. In their observations they requested
that "the january complaint be expanded to include Alejandro Astorga-
Valdéz," who had not been listed as a victim in the original complaint. In
reference to his case, they provided that

[ijn the ruling of the first instance, the military judge upheld the
objection made by the defense regarding lack of jurisdiction,

The Superior Military Prosecutor, issued a report expressing his
opimon 1 favor of confirmation of the judgment including the
objection of Astorga-Valdéz.

The ruling of the second instance of the Special Military Court of
the Peruvian Air Force, upheld the judgment of the first instance
with an order that the documentation on the case of  Astorga-
Valdéz to be remitted to the regular court. Nevertheless, when the
motion for annulment was interposed on behalf of those who were
condemned to life imprisonment, his file was also forwarded to the

Supreme Council of Military Justice.

This Council modified the judgment of the first instance and con-
demned Astorga- Valdéz to life imprisonment as the perpetrator
of the crime of treason against the Fatherland of the Peruvian
Stare,

The Commission admitted the request pursuant to Article 30 of its
Regulations.

7. On December 14, 1994, the second petitioners in the case submnit-
ted a notarized power-of-attorney, executed by the family members of the
alleged victims, to the president of the Chilean Commission on Human
Rights, Jaime Castillo-Velasco and to Carlos Margotta-Trincado.

8. On January 31, 1995, the Commission received from the petition-
ers a report of the Human Rights Commission of the Chilean Parties of
Democratic Reconciliation (hereinafter "the Chilean delegation"), in
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which it was stated that this commission attempted to make a visit i /oco
to the Chilean citizens imprisoned in Peru. According to this report, "the
Peruvian Government prohibited the Chilean delegation from meeting
with the Chilean prisoners, even though the delegation was able to visit
the Yanamayo Prison [...] where the petitioners are now held." This
report was forwarded to the State on March 20, 1995,

9. On March 8, 1995, the Commission received additional informa-
ton from the Peruvian State with respect to the "legal status" of the case
of Jaime Castillo-Petruzzi, Maria Concepcién Pincheira-Saez, and Lautaro
Mellado-Saavedra which established that

[b]y means of official Document No. 09-FG /CSIM, dated February
15, 1995, the General Prosecutor of the Supreme Council of
Military Justice, Major General Enrique Quiroga-Carmona of the
Peruvian Air Force, stated that [Jaime Castillo-Petruzzi, Maria
Concepcion Pincheira-Sdez, and Lautaro Mcllado-Saavedra] were
sentenced to life in prison. He stated that Jaime Castillo-Petruzzi
had filed, through his attorney, Dr. Grimaldo Achaui Loavza, a
motion for annulment of the final judgment of conviction, which
had been rejected on September 14, 1994, by a ruling of the Special
Supreme Military Tribunal.

This information was transmitted to the petitioners on March 16, 1995,

10. By note of June 6, 1995, through Official Document No. 316-95 of
June 2, 1995, Peru reported on the health and legal status of three of the
alleged victims. Peru stated that

the Superior Prosecutor of Puno, had been requested by means of
[official document no.] 223-95 MP-FN-FEDPDH-DH-V dated
April 18, 1995, to verifv the state of health of [Jaime Castillo-
Petruzzt and Lautaro Mellado-Saavedra], and to report on their pre-
sent legal situation. By mean of {official document no.} 09-FG-
CSJM, dated February 15, 1995, the General Prosecutor of the
Supreme Council of Military Justice communicated that they had
been sentenced to life imprisonment [
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INVESTIGACIONES

URIDICAS
He also added that s

{bly means of |otficial document noj 222-95-MP-FN-FLEDPDH-
DH-V, dated April 18, 1995, the Director ot the Maximum Sceurity
Criminal Establishment of Women-Chorrillos was asked for mfor-
mation on the legal situation and the state of health of certain pris-
oners [among whom was Maria Concepeién Pincheira-Sace.] He

stated that this information was not obtained on this occasion.

This information was supplemented on November 7, 1995, to provide
that Maria Concepcion Pincheira-Sdez had been sentenced to Jife
imprisonment for the crime of treason against the fatherland and that
she had been counscied during the entite proceeding by Dr. Castarieda.
[t referred to health problems and harassment on the part of the pris-
oners. Said information was sent to the petitioners on November 30,
1995,

11.  On June 14, 1996, the petitioners asked the Commission to adopt
precautionary measures on behalf of the alleged victims, as a result of the
possibility that they would be transferred to an "uninhabitable” prison,
The Commission requested that the Peruvian State provide information
on this matter. By means of a note of July 16, 1996, the State reported
that there was "no order of any kind to transfer the Chilean prisoners” to
another penitentiary, in accordance with the final judgment handed down
by the Supreme Special Military Court, which ordered that the sentence
of life imprisonment should be served at the Maximum Security Prison at
Yanamayo in Puno.

12, On November 19, 1996, the Commission communicated to the
State that at its 93rd Regular Session the Commission had determined
that Case 11.319 was admissible, and that the Commission was at the dis-
position of the parties to arrive at a friendly settlement. On February 6,
1997, Peru refused the proposal of a friendly scttlement, on the grounds
that the alleged victims were tried, convicted, and sentenced pursuant to
the provisions of Decree-law 25.659 and Decree-Taw 23.708, which reg-
ulate the crime and corresponding procedure in cases of treason against
the fatherland. Peru also asserted that it had observed the rules of duc
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process and adhered to the principle of territoriality set forth in Article 1
of the Peruvian Criminal Code.

13. On December 17, 1996, the Commission treceived a report from
the Supreme Court of Military Justice of Peru, in which it asserted that
the Peruvian courts have jurisdiction in the cases of the alleged victims,
since the crimes of which they are accused were committed in the juris-
diction of Peru, and because "the territoriality of criminal law is indepen-
dent of the nationality of the perpetrator.” Moreover, the State main-
rained that in the aforementioned cases it had observed the principles of
due process, the right to appeal, judicial oversight, and rationale for the
judgments.

14, On December 18, 1996, the petitioners requested that the
Commission adopt precautionary measures to protect the physical
integrity of the alleged victims, in consideration of the citcumstances
resulting from the seizure at the Japanese Embassy in Peru by members
of the Revolutionary Movement Tupac Amaru (MRTA), a group with
which the alleged victims had been associated.

15, On March 11, 1997, the Commission approved Report 17/97, in
the final part of which it stated

[]

86. That the State of Peru, on trying Jaime Francisco Castillo-
Petruzzi, Maria Concepcion Pincheira-Sdez, Lautaro Enrique
Mellado-Saavedra and Alejandro Astorga-Vildez, pursuant to
Decree-Laws No, 25,475 and 25,659, has violated the judicial puat-
antees set forth in Article 8(1} of the American Convention on
Human Rights [hereinafter "the Convention or the American
Convention"] and the rights to a nadonality and to the judicial pro-
tections recognized respectively by Articles 20 and 25, all in con-
junction with Article 1(1) of the Convention.

87.  That the crime of treason against the fatherland which is gov-
erned by the legal order of Peru violates universally accepted princi-
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ples of internatonal law, of legality, due process, judicial guaran-
tees, right to a defense, and the right to be heard by impartial and
independent courts; and in consequence

The Commission resolved [to recommend] that the State of Peru:

88. Declare the annulment of the proceedings undertaken in the
Exclusive Military Jurisdiction for Treason Against the Fatherland
against Jaime Francisco Castillo-Petruzzi, Maria Concepeion
Pincheira-Saez, Lavtaro Enrique Mellado-Saavedra and Alejandro
Astorga-Vildez, and order that the trial of these persons be carried
out in a new hearing in the regular courts with full observance of

the norms of legal duc process, and

89.  The Commission, pursuant to Article 50 of the Convention,
requests that the Peruvian Government inform the Commission
within two menths of any measutes it has taken in the instant case
in accordance with the recommendations contained in the present

report, which is confidential jn nature and should not be published.

16.  On April 24, 1997, Report 17/97 was transmitted to Peru, with the
request that the State inform the Commission of the measures adopted
with respect to it within a period of two months.

17.  After having requested and received an extension until July 8, 1997,
the State presented a report, in which it refuted the conclusions of the
Commission and affirmed the legitimacy of its proceedings.

18.  On June 27, 1997 the Commission made the decision to submit
the case to the Court,

v
PROCEEDINGS BEFORE THE COURT

19.  In submitting the case to the Court on July 22, 1997, the
Commission invoked Article 51{1) of the American Convention and
requested that the Court render a judgment as to whether there were vio-
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lations of Article 5 (Right to Humane Treatment), 8 (Right to a Fair
Trial), 20 (Right to Nationality), 29 (Restrictions Regarding
Interpretation) in conjunction with the Vienna Convention on Consular
Relations; 1{1) (Obligation to Respect Rights) and 51(2) of the American
Conventonn.

20. The Inter-American Commission appointed Oscar Lujin-
Fappiano, Carlos Ayala-Corao, and Claudio Grossman to act as its dele-
gates, Christina M. Cerna as its attorney, and Verdnica Reyna, Nelson
Caucota, Jaime Castillo-Velasco, and Enrique Correa as its assistants.
Pursuant to Article 22(2) of its Regulations, the Commission also
informed the Court that the first two assistants would act for the origi-
nal petitioners and the latter two as representatives of the alleged vic-
tims.

21. By note of July 31, 1997, after a preliminary review of the applica-
tion by the Prestdent of the Court (hereinafier "the President™) the
Secretariat of the Court (hereinafier "the Secretariat™), transmitted the
application to the State and informed the State that it had the following
deadlines: four months in which to submit its answer, one month to
appoint an agent and alternate agent, and two months to interpose pre-
liminary objections. All terms were to begin from the date of notification
of the application. By communication of the same date, the State was
invited to designate a judge ad hoe.

22. By means of communications of August 26 and 28, 1997, the
Comrnission submitted a corrected version of the Spanish text of the
application, and stated that it contained "corrections of minor errors,
above all in style [and] should replace the earlier version which had been
submitted to the Court on July 22, 1997." The corrected version was
transmitted to the State on September 2, 1997.

23, On September 3, 1997, Peru informed the Court that it had desig-
nated Fernando Vidal-Ramirez as judge ad boc.

24, On September 5, 1997, Peru designated Mario Cavagnaro-Basile as
its agent and Walter Palomino-Cabezas as its alternate agent.
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25, On September 22, 1997, the State asked the Court to indicate if it
should "consider as valid" the new version of the application (supra 22) or
if, to the contrary, it should maintain that dated July 22 of the same year.

26.  On September 24, 1997, the Secretariat, following instructions from
the President, informed Peru that in view of the request for clarification
of the State and to insure the "transparency of the process," the President
had decided to suspend the time limits to answer the application and
interpose preliminary objections untl the Commission presented clarifica-
tions of the corrections made to the original text of the application.

27.  On October 1, 1997, Peru submitted its brief in which it raised the
following preliminary objections.

First Objection

failure to exhaust the domestic remedies of Peru at the time the
Inter-American Commission on Human Rights, pursuant to Article
37 of its Regulations, admitted for processing the complaint on
behalf of Jaime Francisco Castllo-Petruzzi, Maria Concepcion
Pincheira-Sdez, lautaro Enrique Mellado-Saavedra and Alejandro

Astorga-Valdéz.
Second Objection

lack of competence of the Inter-American Commission on Human
Rights and the Inter-American Court of Human Rights, first to
consider the petition lodged by the Fundacion de Ayuda Social de
las Tglesias Cristanas (FASIC) on behalf of the aforementioned
Chilean citizens; and second, to process this application when the
original petition was lodged without establishing the exhaustion of

the domestic remedies of Peru.
Third Objection

lack of a pricr demand and of the exhaustion of the domestic rem-
cedies of Peru [with respect to] the alleged violation [of Article 29 of
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the Convention in relation to] the Vienna Convention on Consular
Relations.

Fourth Objection

lack of a prior demand and of the exhauston of the domestic
remedies of Peru with respect to the claim made in point six of
the brief supporting the application, under which the Court is to
order the Peruvian State to immediately release and compensate
Jaime Francisco Castillo-Petruzzi, Maria Concepcidn Pincheira-
Sdez, Lautaro Enrique Mellado-Saavedra, and Alejandro Astorga-
Valdéz.

Fifth Objection

lack of status as a legal entity of the party that, in the name of the
Fundacion de Avuda Social de las Iglesias Cristianas (FASIC), filed
petition No. 11,319 with the Inter-American Commission on
Human Rights against the Peruvian State and lack of standing of
the aforementioned foundation.

Sixth Objection

lack of standing of the Fundacidn de Ayuda Social de las Iglesias
Cristianas {FASIC) and of those who the Commission referred in
points thirteen and fourteen of the application as "another group
of complainants” or "a second group of petitioners” [and sover-

eignty].
Seventh Objection

premature decision of the Honorable Commission to send the pre-

sent case to the Inter-American Court of Human Rights.
Eighth Objection

Ambiguity in the manner of submitting the application.
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Ninth Objection

Lapse of the application.

Tenth Objection

Disregard of the principles of sovereignty and jurisdiction.

As to the first, second, third, fourth, fifth, sixth, and eighth objections,
the State requests that the Court admit them or reserve its decision until
the judgment on the merits of the case. As to the seventh, ninth, and
tenth objections, it requests that they be admitted and that the application
be dismissed.

28,  On Qctober 6, 1997, the Commission presented a communica-
tion to the Court, te which it added a "list of corrections made [..] to
the applicatton™ of July 22, 1997 (supra 26). The following day the
Secretariat, on instructions from the President, requested that Peru
present its comments on the clarifications made by the Commission by
the latest date of October 13, 1997. These observations were not
received.,

29. By resolution of October 15, 1997 the President decided

1. To clarify that the original text of the application submitted
to the Inter-American Court of Human Rights on July 22, 1997, by
the Inter-American Commissicn on Human Rights, is the docu-
ment that the pardes should consider valid to prepare their defense

and arguments in this case.

2. To incotporate into the original text of the application only
the correcdons submitted by the [nter-American Commission on
Human Rights in its correspondence of October 6, 1997,

3. To declare the request of the Commission that the original
text of the application to replaced with the text submitted to the
Court on August 26 and August 28, 1997, to be inadmissible.
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4. To continue with the processing of the present case and o
resume the time period to answer the application, which will expire

on December 27, 1997,

5. To resume the time period to interpose preliminary objec-
nons, which will expire on October 27, 1997, and to request that
the State indicare if it endotses its correspondence of Ocrober 1,
1997.

30, On Ocrober 17, 1997, the State cndorsed its brief on preliminary
objections, which had been filed on October 1, 1997 (sapra 27).

31, On October 22, 1997, the Secretariat received a copy of the original
file processed by the Commission.

32, On November 21, 1997, the Commission filed its written response
to the preliminary objections interposed by Peru in which it requested
that the Court declare the objections to be inadmissible,

33, On December 12, 1997, Peru requested an extension to file its
answer to the application until January 5, 1998. On December 15, 1997,
the Secretariat, following the instructions of the President, informed the
State that

the tme petiod to fle the answer 1o the demand can not be extended.
Nevertheless, the Court will be closed as of noon on December 24 of
the present vear and will reopen on fanuary 5, 1998, for which reason

the Mustrious State of Peru may take until thae date o file its answer.

34, On January 5, 1998, the State submitted the answer to the applica-
tion, in which it asked the Court to reject the entire application.

35.  On January 19, 1998, the State requested that the document the
Commission annexed to its arguments on preliminary objections, which
established the legal entity status of FASIC, referred to in that communi-
cation as the Fundacion de Ayuda Social de las Iglesias Crisuanas "be
considered challenged as false.”
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36, On January 22, 1998, the Commission remitted a copy of the doc-
umentation sent by FASIC, that related to FASIC’s status as a legal enti-
V.

37.  On February 17, 1998, in accordance with the Commission’s
February 11 request, the Sccretariat asked the State ro send various doc-
uments relating to the types of evidence contained in its answer to the
application. The State complied with this requirement on March 23,
1998.

38. By Resolution of March 9, 1998, the President summoned the
Inter-American Commission and Peru to a public hearing to be celebrat-
ed at the seat of the Court on June 8, 1998, to hear their oral atguments
on preliminary objections.

39 By means of a March 17, 1998 letter, the State maintained that the
documents filed by the Commission on January 22, 1998 (suprw 36} did
no more than confirm its questions about the petitioning foundation’s
status as a legal entity, and it challenged one of the documents.

40, On March 19, 1998, the Sccretaniat, following the instructions of
the President, intormed the State that in response to its demand made in
both its brief on prebminary objections and its answer to the application,
that the Commission cxhibit all of its proceedings in this case, the
Commission had opportuncly sent the pertinent parts of the file
processed before it, and they were in the Court’s possession.

41, On March 19, 1998, the Secretariat, following the instructions of
the President, asked the State for an authenticated copy of the laws and
regulatory provisions applied in the proceedings before the Peruvian
courts against the alleged victims in this case, and for the complete judi-
cial files of those proceedings.

42, On April 14, 1998, the State informed the Court that the legal pro-
visions requested had been submitted as part of the cvidendary file in the
Loayza-Tamayo Case, and requested that the Court inform it of the items
it would be necessary to submit from the judicial files of the alleged vie-
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tims in this case, since the files "contain a voluminous amount of doc-
uments that relate to many persons apart from those referred to in this
applicaton.”

43.  On April 27, 1998, the Commussion reiterated its request for the
submission of "the laws and other regulatory decrees relevant to the pro-
ceedings carried out by the Peruvian Courts against Jaime Castillo-
Petruzzi et. al., as well as all the pertinent parts of the judicial files on
these cases." Moreover, the Commission opposed the use of the same
documents containing the laws and decrees submitted in the Loayza-
Tarnayo Case, arguing that the files were different. On July 7, 1998, the
Secretanat, following the instructions of the Court, requested that the
State submit the pertinent parts of the judicial file of the trial which took
place in Peru against Jaime Francisco Castillo-Petruzzi et 2/, and
informed both parties that the legal provisions submitted in the Loayza-
Tamayo Case would be integrated into the file.

44.  The public hearing took place at the seat of the Court on June 8,
1998.

Appearing
for the State of Peru:
Walter Palomino-Cabezas, alternate agent
Ana Redtegui-Napuri, counsel, and
Jennie Vizcarra-Alvizuri, counsel
for the Inter- Amencan Commission on Human Rights:
Oscar Lujan-Fappiano, delegate
Christina Cerna, attorney
Veronica Reyna, assistant, and

Nelson Caucota, assistant.

45, On July 14, 1998, the Secretariat, following instructions of the
Court, requested that the Commission remit the minutes of the session in
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which it decided to send the present case to the Court, and any document
in which it was recorded that the alleged victims knew of the motions
made on their behalf before the Commission, notwithstanding the peti-
tioners were rented with power of representations. On July 29, 1998, the
Commission sent the requested documents.

46.  On July 14 and August 3, 1998, the Secretariat, following instruc-
tions of the Court, requested that the State send official document num-
ber 521-DIVICOTE-DINCOTE dated October 19, 1993. The State
forwarded the requested document to the Court which was received by
the Secretariat of the Court on August 7, 1998,

47.  On August 24, 1998, the State objected to the minutes of the
Commission (supra 45), because they were drawn up in English, and
requested that they be sent in Spanish. On August 25, 1998, the
Secretariat, following instructions of the President, sent a translation of
the minutes to the State and the Commission, so that they would both be
aware of the content of the translation. The time period granted for their
comments expired on August 28, 1998, without the Secretariat receiving
comments from the parties.

48.  On September 1, 1998, the State reported on certain questions
related to Chilean consular assistance in Peru. This communication was
transmitted to the Commission on September 3, accompanied by a
request that the Commission send to the Court within twenty-four hours
any comments that it deemed pertinent.

v
JURISDICTION

49.  Peru has been a State Party to the American Convention since July
28, 1978, and accepted the contentious jutisdiction of the Court on
January 21, 1981. Consequently, the Court is competent, pursuant to
Article 62(3) of the Convention, to consider the preliminaty objections
submitted by the State.
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VI
PRELIMINARY CONSIDERATIONS

50.  The objections raised by Peru basically refer to the following proce-
dural matters: exhaustion of domestic remedies (g7 first, second, third,
and fourth objections), legal entity status and standing (¢ fifth and sixth
objections), "premature decision” to send the case to the Court (g sev-
enth objection), ‘ambiguity in the manner of submitting the application”
(gr. cighth objection), lapse of the application (¢ ninth objection) and
"sovereignty and jurisdiction" (¢ tenth objection). To avoid unnecessary
repetition, these objections will be examined below under general head-
ings that indicate the basic subject matter of the objections, with perti-
nent cross-references, and an examination in each case of other matters
brought up by Peru in its explanation of the respective objections.

VII
EXHAUSTION OF DOMESTIC REMEDIES

First Objection
51.  The first objection interposed by the State refers to the

failure to exhaust the domestic remedics of Peru at the tme the
later-American Commission on Human Righes, pursuant o Article
37 of its Regulations, admitted for processing the complaint on
behalf of Jaime Francisco Castillo-Petruzzi, Maria Concepeidn
Pincheira-Sdcz, Lautaro Enrique Mellado-Saavedra, and Alejandro
Astorga-Valdéz,

52.  The Court summarizes in the following terms the arguments of the
State and the Commission as to this objection:

a.  The State asserted that the Inter-American Commission
received and initiated the processing of the January 28, 1994 com-
plaint when a proceeding in Peru was pending against the alleged
victims. On May 3, 1994, the Special Military Supreme Court of
the Supreme Council of Military Justice convicted the alleged vic-
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tims of "the commission of the above-mentioned criminal act. The
complaint filed by Verénica Reyna, Chief of the Legal Department
of FASIC, concerned three of the alleped victims; the fourth
alleged victim, Alejandro Astorga-Valdéz, was added subsequently.
In the public hearing Peru stated that the Commission informed it
of the complaint on June 29, 1994, The State maintained that the
Commission did not comply with the requirements of Articles
46(1)(a) and 47(a) of the Convention, Article 37 of its Regulations,
and Articles 18 and 19 a. of its Statute.

b.  The Commission asserted that the complaint was transmitted
to Peru on June 29, 1994, after the Supreme Council of Military
Justice Issued the conviction on May 3, 1994, It added that, in its
judgment, it would not have been nccessary to exhaust domestic
remedics, given that Decree-Laws No, 25,659 and 25,708 the corre-
sponding procedural norms, and their application in a concrete
cas¢, do not provide "the fundamental guarantees of due process”
for the crime of treason against the fathetland. During the public
hearing, the Commission pointed out that its argument was
grounded in the exception to the rule of the exhaustion of domes-
tic remedies (Article 46(2) of the Conventon) and stated that this
issue had not been raised before it in a dmely manner.

53, As to this first objection raised by the State, the Court will not
consider the assessments of the parties as to the conformity of the nature
of the proceedings against the alleged victims with the principles of legal
due process set forth in the Convention. Taking into account the nature
of this matter, the Court considers that its analysis should be reserved for
the decision on the merits,

54, The Court points out that if the Commission did receive the com-
plaint in this case while the criminal proceeding was pending a final judg-
ment before the military court of the last instance, the mere filing of it
did not amount to the Commission’s commencement of the processing
of the matter. Strictly speaking, the receipt of the complaint, which
derives from an act of the complainant, should not be confused with its
admission and processing, which are accomplished by specific acts of the
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Commission itself, such as the decision to admit the complaint and, when
approprtiate, the notification of the State.

55. It must be noted that in this case the processing began several
months after the complaint was lodged, when there was already a final
judgment from the organ of final instance in the military jurisdiction. It
was only then, by means of a notification on June 29, 1994, that the
Commission informed Peru that the complaint had been submitted and
required its observations concerning it, so that the State could provide
that which it believed to be relevant in its defense.

56. The Court also indicates that the State did not allege the failure to
exhaust domestic remedies before the Cotnmission. By not doing so, it
waived a means of defense that the Convention established in its favor
and made a tacit admission of the non-existence of such remedies or their
timely exhaustion, as has been stated in proceedings before organs of
international jurisdicdon (such as the European Court which has main-
tained that objections to inadmissibility should be raised at the initial stage
of the proceedings before the Commission, unless it proves impossible to
interpose them at the appropriate time for reasons that cannot be attrib-
uted to the Government), (cfr. Eur. Court HR., Artico judgment of 13 May
1980, Series A No 37, paras. 24 et seq; Ewr. Court H.R., judgment of Foti and
others of 10 December 1982, Series A No. 56, paras. 46 et seq; Eur. Conrt
H.R., Corighano judgment of 10 December 1982, Series A No. 57, paras. 31
et seq; Enr. Court H.R., Bogano judgment of 18 December 1986, Series A No.
111, para. 44; Eur. Court H.R., Cinlla case decision of 23 March 1988, Series
A No. 148, paras. 28 ct seq., and Ear. Court H.R., de Jong, Baljet and van den
Brick judgment of 22 May 1984, Series A No 77, paras. 35 et seq). and this
Court has stated in eatlier judgments. (In the Matter of Viviana Gallardo et. al.
No. G 101/81. Series A, para 26; Veldsquey Rodrignez Case, Preliminary
Objections, Judgment of June 26, 1987. Series C No. 1, para. 88, 89; Fairén
Garbi and Solis Corrales Case, Preliminary Objections, Judgment of June 26,
1987. Series C No. 2, para. 87, 88; Godine Crug Case, Preliminary Objections,
Judgment of June 26, 1987. Series C No. 3, para. 90, 91; Fairin Garbi and
Solis Corrales Case, Judgment of March 15, 1989. Series C No. 6, para. 10%;
Neira Alegria et al., Preliminary Objections, Judgment of December 11, 1991
Series C No. 13, pata. 30; Gangaram Panday Case, Judgment of January 21,
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1994, Series C No. 16, para. 38 and 40; Cassille Pdey Case, Preliminary
Obyjections, Judgment of January 30, 1996, Series C No. 24, para. 40; Loayza
Tamayo Case, Preliminary Objections, Judgment of January 31, 1996. Sere C
No. 25, para 40; in addition to the aforementioned judgments, as to the
opportunity to present defenses, the Court has expressed its opinion in
Caballero Delgado and Santana Case, Preliminary Objections, Judgment of
January 21, 1994. Serie C No. 17, para. 60).

57.

Consequently, the Court deems this preliminary objection to be

inadmissible.

58.

59,

Second Objection
The second objection raised by the State concerns the

lack of competence of the Inter-American Commission on Human
Rights and the Inter-American Court of Human Rights first, to
consider the petiton lodged by the Fundacion de Ayuda Social de
las lglesias Cristianas (FASIC) on behalf of the aforementioned
Chilean citizens; and second, to process this application when the
original petition was lodged without establishing the exhaustion of

the domestic remedies of Peru.

The Court summarizes as follows the positions of the State and the

Commission with respect to this objection:

a. The State asserted that the Commission received and initiated
the processing of the complaint when the criminal proceeding was
still ongoing against the alleged victims. It declared that the
Commission is authorized to consider a matter when domestic
tesources have been exhausted and that the non-fulfilment of that
norm "results in the incompetence of the Commission and [...]
determines that the Court also lacks the competence to exetcise
jurisdiction and to render a valid decision on the merits of the dis-
puted question.” The State emphasized that the alleged victims or
their attorneys could have filed writs of habeas corpus or of
amparo but did not do so.

"
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b.  The Commission pointed out that the sccond objection
merely repeats the first. It observed that in October of 1993, due
to the circumstances of the proceedings and  the applicability of
Article 6 of Decree-Law No. 25.659 "the alleged victims wete not
permitted the option of filing a writ of habeas corpus or of amparo.”
Moreover, the Commission asserted that even though the afore-
mentioned Decree-Law was modified on November 25, 1993, by
Decree-Taw No. 26.248, which allowed for the filing of a writ of
habeas corpus in cases of treason against the fatherland, this legal
modification "came about long after the final, ulumate, and execut-
ed judgment rendered in the exclusive military jurisdiction; as a
result of which the remedy was ineffective for reasons of untimeli-
ness. It also pointed out that this motion could not be filed, since it
concerned the same events for which the prisoners had been tried.
Likewise, the Commission stressed that the State had not demon-
strated the eftectiveness of that remedy for the release of persons
tried before” a "faceless" mulitary court.

60. The principal issue raised in the second objection, the failure of
the timely exhaustion of domestic remedies, has been examined with
regard to the first objection {(supra 53 to 56), and for that reason the
Court does not consider it necessary to repeat the same observations
already stated.

61.  Inits explanation of the second objection, the State referred specif-
ically to the remedies of habeas corpus and amparo. In previous deci-
sions, the Court has maintained that habeas corpus is, in fact, the appro-
priate remedy to combat viclations of the right to personal liberty (Habeas
Corpus in Emergency Situations (Arts. 27(2), 25(1) and 7(6) American
Convention on Human Rights), Advisory Opinion OC-8/87 of Januaty 30,
1987. Series A No. 8, patas. 35 and 42).

62. In this matrter, it is important to remember that Article 6{4) of
Decree-Law No. 26,248 of November 12, 1993, which modified Decree-
Law No. 25.659 on this point, as applied to the alleged victims provides
that "wtits of habeas corpus based on the same facts or grounds, the sub-
ject of a proceeding that is under way, or a proceeding that is already
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resolved, are not admissible.  As regards amparo, Decree-Law 25.569
excluded access to that guarantec, and it has not been proved that there
has been a modification of the aforementioned legislation which would
authorize the use of that remedy. It is appropriate to remember that in
the loayza-Tamayo Case this Court determined that persons accused
and tried, pursuant to the provisions of the aforementioned Decree-Taw
No. 25.659, did not have access to the right of petition for any guarantee
to safeguard personal liberty. (Loayga-Tamayo Case, Judgment of
September 17, 1997, Seric C No. 33, para. 52).

63.  Moreover, on proposing the objection that is now examined, the
State did not explore the applicability of habeas corpus and amparo in
this case, nor did it demonstrate the general effectiveness of these reme-
dies in matters such as the present one, by showing that they would be
adequate and available. Tt is evident, and the Court has so decided, that
the State must prove the cffectivencss of the domestic remedies. {In #e
Matter of Viviana Gallardo et. al., supra 56; Velisques Rodrignes Case,
Preliminary Objections, supra 505 Fairén Garbi and Sofis Corrales Cazse,
Prefiminary Obyections, supra 50, Godineg Crug Case, Preliminary Objections,
supra 5G; Veldsquez Rodrignez Case, judgment of July 29, 1988, Series C No
4, para. 64; Gadiney Crug Case, Judgment of January 20, 1989, Series C No.
5, para 07; Fairén Garbi and Solis Corrales Case, supra 56; Neira Alegria ef al.,
Preliminary Objections, supra 56; Gangaram Panday Case, supra 50; Caballero
Delpado and Santana Case, Prefiminary Olyections, supra 56; Castilly Paez Case,
Preliminary Objections, supra 56, Loayza Tamays Case, Preliminary Objections,
supra 506).

64. Inlight of the above, the Court deems this preliminary objection to
be inadmissible.

T hird Objection

65.  The third objection interposed by the State concerns the lack of a
prior demand and of the lack of the exhaustion of the domestic remedies
of Peru with respect to the alleged violation of Article 29 of the
American Convention in relation to the Vienna Convention on Consular
Relations.
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The Court summarizes the arguments of the State and Commission

on this point as follows:

67.

a,  The State asserted that "it offered the Chilean consular offi-
cials all of the facilities to visit the persons of their nationality who
were detained.” It stated that Report 17/97 did not contain any
recommendation about the alleged violation of Article 29 of the
American Convention in conjunction with the Vienna Convention
on Consular Relations, and that because the domestic jurisdiction
of Peru had not been exhausted as to this question, the Court
should reject this point of the application. In the public hearing,
the State indicated that the report of the Chilean delegation’s visit,
"had not been a topic of debate and discussion at the level of the
Inter-American Commission [not] had it been a subject of the con-
fidential report.

b. The Commission asserted that neither the American
Convention nor the Rules of Procedure establish that the applica-
tion must be an exact replica of the report provided for in Article
50 of the Convention. It added that Report 17/97 stated that the
Chilean delegation, which was prohibited from visiting the alleged
victims, sent a report to the State on March 20, 1995, in which it
pointed out that Article 20 of Dectee-Law No. 25.475 contravened
the norms of the Vienna Convention on Consular Relations,
because it authorized the total isolation of the prisoners. On June
6, 1995, the State sent its observations on the Commission’s report,
and did not make reference to the suspension of the visits. During
the public hearing before the Court, the Commission indicated that
it had not included the subject of the consular visit in its report,
given that those detained had already been convicted, and for that
reason "there was no possibility of redress because the injury had
already been inflicted and was irrevocable.”

The matter here taken up could be examined in the light of various

facts and considerations, such as: the communication of October 19,
1993, that the State maintains was sent to the Chilean consular represen-
tative of Chile in Peru concerning the detention of the alleged victims, a
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copy of which, showing the stamp of receipt of the corresponding con-
sular office dated October 20, 1993, is included as an exhibit; the nature
of the commission of the Chilean delegation that attempted to interview
the alleged victims in the prison of Yanamayo, which was composed of
members of the Chilean Legislature; and the documentary evidence in
the file regarding the consular visits to Maria Concepcién Pincheira-Saez.
The Court will not examine these matrers which would go to the merits
of the case.

6%, However, the Court considers it relevant to indicate that the
Commission did not raisc this issue in its Report 17/97. Although it is
ttue that the application need not necessarily be a simple reiteration of
the report issued by the Commission, it is also true that it should not
contain types of violations of which the State was not aware during the
stage of the proceedings before the Commission itself, and which it could
not, therefore, refute at that cime. It must be remembered that at that
stage the State could admit the facts alleged by the complainants, justifi-
ably reject them, or procure a friendly settlement which would avoid the
submission of the case to the Court. If the State is not aware of certain
facts or particular statements which arc later raised in the application, it
can not make use of the rights that assist it at that procedural stage. It
must be observed that this instance docs not pertain to one of the genc-
ral obligations set forth in the American Convention (Articles 1(1) and
(2)), compliance with which the Court must officially examine (cf.
Cantoral Benavides Case, Preliminary Objections, Judgment of September 3,
1998, Series C No. 40), para. 46)..

69.  For the aforementioned reasons, the Court deems that this prelimi-
nary objection 1s admissible.

Fourth Objection
7). The fourth objection raised by the State concerns the
lack of a prior demand and of the exhaustion of the domestic

remedies of Peru with respect to the claim made in point six of the

brief supporting the applicaton, under which the Court 1s to order
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the Peruvian State to immediately release and compensate Jaime
Francisco Castillo-Petruzzi, Maria Concepeidn Pincheira-Sdez,

Lautaro Enrique Mellad[o]-Saavedra, and Alejandro Astorga-
Valdéz.

The Court summarizes the arguments of the State and the

Commission pertaining to this objection in the following manner:

72

a.  The State pointed out that in Report 17/97 the Commission’s
request was limited to the annulment of the proceedings of the
exclusive military jurisdiction against the alleged victims, so that
they would be tried again before the civilian court. On this basis,
the State argued that neither the Commission nor the petitioners
exhausted the domestic jurisdiction of Peru, and that the requests
included in the application should concern the matters established
in the conclusions and recommendations of the Report. During
the public hearing, Peru added that the State had found its "right to
argue curtailed and had to assert its right by means of an objection
which also pertains to the merits of the case.”

b.  The Commission stated that neither the Convention nor the
Rules of Procedure refer to "the alleged necessity to duplicate the
same list of conclusions and recommendations from the Ardcle 50
report in the application to the Court.” Moreover, the Commission
indicated that by note of July 8, 1997, Peru submitted its observa-
tions on Report 17/97, and in them did not mention any measures
adopted to comply with the recommendations set forth in the
report. In conformance with the principle #on bis in idem, Peru
could not try the alleged victims in the civilian jurisdiction on the
same facts as had been considered by the military jurisdiction, for
which reason the Commission requested the annulment of the pro-
ceedings.

The Court refers back to the observations it made with respect to

the failure to exhaust domestic remedies, which it examined as to the first
objection (s#pra 53 and 56) and to which it also alluded when considering
the State’s second objection (s#pra 60).
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73, ltis also important to comment on the Statc’s argument that there is
a certain incongruity in the position susiained by the Commission, when
the combination of its arguments is considered. The State asserted that
on the one hand the Commission requested the annulment of the pro-
ceedings that culminated in a final conviction of the alleged victims, and
on the other, required their immediate release. Even though the state-
ments in these requests could have been more precisely formulated so as
0o avoid confusion, the Court deems that the incongruity is more appat-
ent than real. The annulment of a trial that resulted in a final judgment of
conviction docs not imply the commencement of a new trial against the
same person for the same facts, which would be a flagrant violation of the
ptinciple of wor bis i idem, but would lead instead to the immediate and
absolute release of the accused. The Court, on examining the statements
of the Commission, can establish their possible scope, which has a double
ohjective; the annulment of the trial on the one hand, and the release of
the accused as a natural legal effect of that annulment, on the other.

74, For the atorementioned reasons, the Court considers that this pre-
liminary objection is Inadmissible.

VIII
LEGAL CAPACITY AND STANDING

-]
(9]

The fifth obiection interposed by the State refers to the

lack of status as a legal entity of the party that, in the name of the
Fundacion de Avuda Social de las Iglesias Cristianas (FASIC), filed
petition Noo 11319 with the Inter-American Commission on
Fluman Rights against the Peruvian State and lack of standing of

the aforementioned toundation.

76.  In this regard, the Court summatizes the arguments of the State
and the Commission as follows:

a.  The Stare asserted that a party who takes action in the name
of or in representation of a legal entity, must be duly authorized
under the bylaws of that entity or have its express authorization,
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Neither Verdnica Reyna nor FASIC were accredited respectively as
representatives or recognized as a non governmental organization
in Chile. During the public hearing, the State added that it was not
questioning the existence of this foundation nor the legal capacity
of the person who lodged the complaint in its name.

b.  The Commission responded that it did not ask the founda-
tion to "establish its legal capacity when it lodged the complaint in
this case, because it is an organization known to the Commission,”
which appears in the Guide to Non Governmental Human Rights
Organizations, published in 1991 by the Inter-American Institute of
Human Rights of San José, Costa Rica. During the public hearing,
the Commission indicated that it had always "broadly interpreted
Article 44 so as not to require the existence of a power of attorney
or specific representation; it is sufficient that the action is taken by
a group of persons.”

77.  As to this objection, the Court takes note that irrespective of the
examination that it could make, if it were necessary, of the existence and
authority of FASIC and of the person who took action in its name, it is
clear that Article 44 of the Convention permits any group of persons to
lodge petitions or complaints of the viclaton of the rights set forth in the
Convention. This broad authority to make a complaint is a characteristic
feature of the system for the international protection of human rights. In
the present case, the petitioners are a "group of persons,” and therefore,
for the purpose of legitimacy, they satisfy one of the possibilities set forth
in the aforementioned Article 44. The evident authority in this instance
makes it unnecessary to examine the registration of FASIC, and the rela-
tonship that said foundation has or is said to have with those who act as
its representatives. This consideration is strengthened if it is remembered
that, as the Court has stated on other oceasions, the formalides that char-
acterize certain branches of domestic law do not apply to international
human rights law, whose principal and determining concern is the just and
complete protection of those rights. In other words, "failure to observe
certain formalities is not necessarily relevant when dealing on the interna-
tional plane. What is essential is that the conditions necessary for the pro-
cedural rights of the parties not be diminished or unbalanced, and that the
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objectives of the different procedures be met." (1 éasques Rodriguey Case,
Prefiminary Objections, supra 56, paras. 33 and 34; Fairdn Garbi and Solis
Corrales Case, Preliminary Objections, supra 56, paras. 38 and 39; Godines Crug
Case, Preliminary Objections, supra 50, paras. 36 and 37; Paniagua Morales et. al.
Case, Preliminary Objections, Judgment of January 25, 1996. Series C No. 23,
para. 42, and Caballero Delgado and Santana Case, Preliminary Objections, supra
note 56, para. 44). The International Court of Justice has spoken to this
issuc in stating that the Court, "whose jurisdiction is international, is not
bound to attach to matters of form the same degree of importance which
they might possess in municipal law (Mavrommatis Palestine Concessions,
Judgment No. 2, 1924, PC.L]., Series A, No. 2, p. 34; Legal Status of Fastern
Greenland, Judgment, 1933, PCL], Series A/B, No. 53, p. 71; Aegean Sea
Continental Shelf; Judgment, LC.J. Reports 1978, para. 42}.

78.  The Court has declared that certain formalides may be excluded, pro-
vided that there is a suitable balance between justice and legal certainty,
(Cayara Case, Prefominary Objections, Judgment of February 3, 1993, Series C
No. 14, para. 42; Paniggua Morales et al. Case, Preliminary Obyections, supra 77,
para. 38; Castillo Pdeg, Preliminary Objections, supra 56, para. 34, and Loayga
Tamays, Preliminary Objections, supra 50, para. 33). In the exercise of its authori-
ty to evaluate due process before the Court (Veldsgues Rodrigues Case,
Prelipsinary Objections, supra 56, para. 34; Fairin Garbi and Solis Corrales Case,
Prefiminary Obgections, supra 56, para. 39; Godines; Crogy Case, Preliminary Objections,
supra 56, para. 37}, it deems that in the present case the essential matters
impticit in the procedural rules of the Conventdon have been respected.

79, In view of the foregoing, the Court determines that this prelim-
inary objection is not admissible.

Sixth Objection
80. The sixth objection interpased by the State concetns the

lack of standing of the Fundacion de Ayuda Social de las lglesias
Cristianas {FASIC) and of those who the Commission referred in
peints thirteen and fourteen of the application as "another group of

complainants” or "a second group of petitioners” [and sovereigntyl,
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81. The Court summarizes in the following manner the arguments of
the State and the Commission concerning this objection:

a.  The State pointed out that the aforementioned persons lack
standing under Article 44 of the Convention, "to raise questions
about the sovereign actions taken by the Peruvian authorities.” The
alleged victims "surreptitiously entered [Peru] and devoted them-
selves to subverting the established order, associating themselves
with a terrorist organization." The questioning of the sovereign acts
of Peru is made by "an alleged legal entity under non Peruvian pri-
vate law and/or third persons who are unidentified or whose identity
is not known to the Peruvian State and who presumably are not of
Peruvian natonality," "This concerns professional international ter-
rorists, as they have been characterized even by the Chilean authorti-
ties." The alleged victims repudiated the conditions of Article 32 of
the Convention and those set forth in the Peruvian Constitution then
in force. During the public hearing Peru advised that "this objection
touches on aspects of the case that should be heard with the merits,
for which reason it reserved the right to support it at that time."

b.  The Commission indicated that "the transitton from a question
of the domestic forum to the international forum is made by virtue
of the existence of a treaty of other notm of international law that
imposes an obligation.” It also asserted that, just as it stated in exam-
ining the prior objection, FASIC does have legal standing to lodge a
complaint against Peru. It pointed out that both the Commission
and the Court are competent to examine the instant case, since Peru
ratified the Convention and accepted the jurisdiction of the Court. It
asserted that the accused, irrespective of whether they are terrorists,
mercenaries, or common criminals, have the rights protected by
Article 8 of the Convention. In contrast with the reservation made
by the State during the public hearing, the Commission affirmed that
"if the objections are raised now, they should be supported now."

82.  As to this objection, the Court adheres to the observations that it
made on examining the legitimacy of FASIC and of its representatives
(supra 77). As regards statements concerning the principle of sovereignty
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and its implications in the present case, reference 1s made to the examin-

ation of the tenth objection (fafra 101 and 102).

83.  As concerns the exclusive subject matter in the sixth objection, the
Court emphasizes that it can not nor should not discuss or judge the
character of the crimes attributed to the alleged victims, certainly very
grave, as that is reserved to the appropriate eriminal court. The Court 1s
called upon only to decide on concrete violations of the provisions of the
Convention, concerning any persons and independent of the legal situa-
tion that applies to thern or of the legality or illegally of their conduct
from the petspective of the criminal norms that could be applicable
under national law.

84. A behavior that risks or harms the legal benefits sct forth in Article
32 of the Convention, which was invoked by Peru, would result in the
intervention of the regular courts for a judgment as to the lability of
those who commirtted it, but will not override the human rights of the
accused nor deprive them of the possibility of access to organs of inter-
national jurisdiction. On another occasion, the Court has commented on
the seriousness of the real or alleged crimes committed by the victim,
holding that the Court is not concerned with the innocence or the guilt
of the accused, and that a decision of that nature is in the providence of
the domestic criminal court (g7 Sudrez Rosers, Judgment of November 12,

1997, Series C No. 35, para. 37).

85.  Consequently, the Court deems that this preliminary objection is
inadmissible,

IX
"PREMATURE DECISION"
TO SEND THE CASE TO THE COURT

Seventh Objection

86. The seventh objection interposed by the State concerns "the pre-
mature decision of the Honorable Commission to send the present case
to the Inter-American Court of Human Rights."
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The Court summarizes the positions of the State and the

Commission on this issue as follows.

88.

a.  The State argued that the Commission, in its Ninety-Fifth
Regular Session, approved Report 17/97 that was transmitted to
the Srate on April 24, 1997. On June 5 of the same year, the
Commission granted Peru an extension to comment on that
Report, which ended on July 8, 1997, On June 27, 1997, despite
the fact that the additional time period was running, the
Commisston made the decision to sent the case o the Court.
According to the State, said decision was premature and constituted
a "prejudgment that invalidated the act of the Commission and nul-
lified the submission of the application, because it infringed on an
elementary guarantee related to the right to due process.”

b.  The Commission stated that pursuant to Article 51 of the
Convention, it could send the case to the Court on the latest date
of July 24, 1997. On June 27, 1997, it decided to do so, subject to
the possible implementation of the recommendations by Peru.
Peru, by means of a July 8, 1997 note, received by the Commission
on July 10, rejected the recommendations contained in the Report,
for which reason, the Commission argued, it was not necessary to
reconsider the decision it had adopted. Moteover, it stated that
Peru had not indicated in what way it was prejudiced by the disput-
ed decision. Finally, during the public hearing, the Commission
added that it found it necessary to make this decision because "it
does not meet on a permanent basis.”

As to this objection, the Court states that the decision adopted by

the Commission to submit the case to the Court, a decision that the
Commission explained as being a function of its work system and of the
schedule that governs its sessions, did not result in the imrhediate sub-
mission of the application to the Court. In explanation of the preceding
obsetvation, it is useful to recall the relevant dates 1n the examination of
this objection. The extension of the ume petiod requested by Peru and
granted by the Commission was to expite on July 8, 1997. According to
the Commussion, tts decision to send the case to the Court was made on
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June 27, subject to "the possible implementation of the recommend-
ations" contained in the Report. Peru sent its observations on July 10
and in them rejected the recommendations of the Commission. Finally,
the Commission filed the application on July 22, which was almost a
maonth after deciding to do so and two weeks after the cxpiration of the
extension of the initial deadline and after the State refused to heed the
recommendations of the Commisston. This circumstance shows that
Peru was not affected by a de facto interruption in the time period it had
been granted, and reinforces the statement of the Commission that the
performance of the agreement of June 27 was subject to the answer that
was to be provided by the State. 1t is apparent that the mere decision
adopted by the Commission on June 27 did not prejudice the State in
any way.

89, For the aforementioned reasons, the Court determines that this
preliminary objection is inadmissible.

X
AMBIGUITY IN THE MANNER OF SUBMITTING
THE APPLICATION

Eighth Objection

90.  The eighth objection intetposed by the State concerns "ambiguity
in the manner of submitting the application.”

91.  The Court summarizes in the following manner the arguments of
the State and of the Comimussion:

a.  The State argued that there is no agrecment between the pur-
pose of the application and the petition on which that purpose was
based. When referring to the purpose of the application, the
Commission asked the Court for the release of the prisoners and
reparations for the alleged material and moral injuries they suffered,
while in its petition the Commission demanded that the State annul
the proceedings which took place in the military court against the
aforementioned persons and initiate a new proceeding, respecting
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due process and granung the consequent reparations for the "viola-
tions caused by the military proceedings.”

b.  The Commission observed that this objection "reiterates the
arguments presented under the heading of the Fourth Objection;"
that its position 1s that which was expressed in the proceeding
before the Court and not that contained in Report 17/97; that

[t]he lack of similarity berween the Article 30 or Article 51
Reporr and the application w the Court, results from “the con-
duct of the State,” as the Court stated in Advisory Opinion
OCAT3. . Tt the Peruvian State had taken steps to implement
the recommendations of the Article 50 Report, there would
not have been a need to make an application to the Court,
Nor would it have been necessary for the Court to hear the

statements of the pedtioners in order to decide on reparations.

During the public hearing, the Commission added that unclearness of the
request "if it exists, can mean, at most, that the applicant is told to clarify the
terms of its application, but in no way would it result in a rejection i fmine.”

92.  As regards this etghth objection raised by the State, the Court deems
that the abservations it made in the examination of the fourth objection
arc applicable (supra 73). Of course, there should be congruity between
the statements made in the body of the application and those which are
made in the pleas of said document, taking into account the natural conti-
nuity that exists logically between them. In any case, the Court can and
should, 1n accordance with the principle of ixra wovit curia, examine the
document in its endrety and consider its character and the meaning of the
requests made by the applicant, so as to duly evaluate and resolve them.,
(1-eldsquez Rodriguez Case, supra 63, para. 163 and Godines Cruz Case, supra
73, para. 173). The Court will not begin to examine the other observa-
tions set forth with regard to this objection interposed by the State and
which are not the proper subject matter for a preliminary objection, analy-
sis of which will be reserved for the time of the respective judgment.

93.  Consequently, the Court deems this objection to be inadmissible.
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X1
LAPSE OF THE APPLICATION

Ninth Objection

94, The ninth objection interposed by the State concerns the "lapse of
the application.”

95, The Court summarizes the arguments of the Srate and the
Commission as:

a. The State referred to the submission of a corrected version
of the application by the Commission on August 26 and 28, 1997,
It asserted that the "submission of the application, its admission
for processing and the subsequent notificadon of the opposing
party, precluded all rights of whoever would move to modify or
vary in whole or in part its objectives. The submission of the
application, its admission, and the notification of the opposing
party, "arc exclusive and invariable actions that can not be mod-
ified much less done so unilaterally." To accept the second text
submitted by the Commission as definitive would amount to an
admission that the application was interposed after the expiration
of the three months provided by Arsticle 51{1) of the American
Convention in accordance with Articles 19(a) and 23 of the Statute
of the Commission and Article 47(2) of the Regulations of the
Commission.

b, The Commission stated that on August 26, 1997, it asked the
Court to replace the application with a corrected version of the
Spanish text submitted that same dav. In said text, the Commission
stated that "the corrections were merely of spelling, style, and typ-
ing mistakes in the redaction of the Spanish version of the applica-
tion.” It indicated that the martter was resolved by the President of
the Court on October 15, 1997, and lastly observed that the State
had not indicated what prejudice a modification ot this character
had causcd to its defensc.
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96. As to this objection, the Court recognizes that there can be no
more than one text of an application, considering the characteristics and
consequences of this proceeding, but at the same time it observes that in
this case the applicant incorporated purely formal corrections and
changes, so as to improve the appearance of the document, without mod-
ifying any of the objectives or affecting the procedural defense of the
State,

97.  In any case, it is necessary to indicate that this matter was already
considered and resolved by the President of the Court in his Resolution
of October 15, 1997 (supra 29). In effect, the Resolution determined the
text that would serve, to the exclusion of all others, as the valid applica-
don 1n the instant proceeding The Commission and the State were noti-
fied of the President’s decision on October 15 and 17 respectively, and
neither of them objected or requested clarifications or changes.

98.  For the reasons stated, the Court deems that this preliminary objec-
tion is inadmissible.

XII
SOVEREIGNTY AND JURISDICTION

99.  The Srate identifies the tenth objection as "sovereignty and jurisdic-
don."

100. The Court summarizes as indicated below the arguments of the
State and the Commission on this issue:

a.  The State asserted that, although it would not begin to
inguire into the ambiguity of the application, it considers that
"there are inherent aspects that make up the sovereignty of States
and of individuals that can not be renounced without affecting
public order.” On this basis, Peru asserted that it is a sovereign
Republic with the full right to pass the necessary laws to repress
crimes committed in its territory by nationals or foreigners; that the
conviction of the alleged victims took place in accordance with
Decree-Laws Nos. 25.659, 25,708, and 25.744, and with the 1993
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Constitution in effect at that time, and that "the sovereign decision
of the legal organs of Peru cannot be modified much less rendered
ineffective by any national, foreign, or international authority.”
Finally, it asserted that "ctiminal offenses committed by nationals
and forcigners in Peruvian territory, are sanctioned by the compe-
tent courts of the country and that their decisions are final."

h.  The Commission stated that the tenth objection is "a combi-
nation of the objections presented and considered earlier,” and
repeated the arguments it made to the sixth objection. It pointed
out that both the Commission and the Court are competent to
examine and decide this case, since Peru accepted the jurisdiction
of the organs of the Inter-American system with respect to acts
that violate the human rights set forth in the American
Conventiorn.

101, As regards the tenth and final objection raised by the State, the
Court must recall that Peru signed and ratified the American Convention
on Human Rights. Consequently, it accepted the treaty obligations set
forth in the Convention with respect to all persons subject to its jurisdic-
tion without any discrimination. It is not necessary to state that Pery,
like the other States Parties to the Convention, accepted the obligations
precisely in the exercise of its sovereignty.

102. On becoming a State Party to the Convendon, Peru accepted the
competence of the organs of the Inter-Ametican system for the protec-
tion of human rights, and therefore obligated itself, also in the exercise of
its sovereignty, to patticipate in proceedings before the Commission and
the Court and to assume the obligations that derive from them and from
the general application of the Convention,

103, If the alleged victims have acted, as Peru asserts, in a2 manner
inconsistent with the provisions of the Convention and with the national
law to which they are subject, it can result in criminal consequences in
accordance with the infractions committed in the case, but it does not
relieve the State of the duty to comply with the obligations that it
assumed as a State Party to the aforementioned Convention.
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104. Consequently, the Court considers this preliminary objection to be
inadmissible.

105. Now, therefore,

X111
THE COURT,
DECIDES:
by five votes to two

l. To dismiss the first, second, fourth, fifth, sixth, seventh, eighth,
ninth, and tenth preliminary objections interposed by the Peruvian State

Judges de Roux-Rengifo and Vidal-Ramitez dissenting

unanimously

2. To admit the third objection raised by the Peruvian Srate.

unanimously

3. To proceed with the consideration of the merits of the case, except
with respect to the third objection.

Judge Cangado Trindade informed the Court of his Concurring Opinion;
Judge de Roux-Rengifo of his Partially Dissenting Opinion, and Judge
Vidal-Ramirez of his Dissenting Opinion, all of which are attached here-
to.

Done in Spanish and English, the Spanish text being authentic, in San
José, Costa Rica, on this fourth day of September, 1998,
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